RECONCILIATION OF THE UKRAINE-POLAND

CONFLICT: THE IMPACT OF BACKLASH AND

STRATEGIES FOR OVERCOMING IT

By

Kristina Grymakovska

Submitted to

Central European University

Department of International Relations

In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Arts in International Relations

Supervisor: Thomas Fetzer

Vienna, Austria

2024

Abstract

On the surface, relations between Ukraine and Poland may appear positive and successful. In reality, however, they are mired in deep socio-political conflict, and the two nations have not yet achieved reconciliation despite attempts by state leaders to do so. The reconciliation between Ukraine and Poland and, especially why it has not been achieved, is scarcely studied in academic literature. Therefore, this thesis will delve into the question of what exactly prevents reconciliation between the two countries and argue that it is primarily due to the popular backlash against the state actions in both countries. Moreover, the thesis will note that this backlash prevents reconciliation because it is not a single unrelated episode but rather interdependent cycles of reciprocal backlash. To address this issue profoundly and empirically groundedly, the thesis will draw on both primary sources showing how and why backslash prevents reconciliation, including materials in Polish, Russian and Ukrainian languages, and secondary academic research. The key significance of the thesis lies in the fact that, by drawing on the practical evidence of relations between Ukraine and Poland and analysing similar cases of backlash around the world, it presents a set of strategies on how such backlash can be overcome in the domestic arenas of each country and through inter-state cooperation. Overcoming the backlash and achieving reconciliation will, in turn, be crucial for both political relations between the countries and the normal existence of citizens of both nations, especially in the current realities of the common threat from Russia.

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor, Thomas Fetzer, for his unwavering support and invaluable feedback throughout the writing of this thesis. I am also deeply thankful to my mother, Svitlana, and my closest friends, Barbara, Manuel, Christoph, Emanuel, and Frederik. Thank you for your belief in me and your never-ending support, without which this journey would have been impossible.

This thesis is dedicated to the memory of my father, Eduard, who always had faith in my ability to succeed and whose belief in me made this achievement possible.

Table of contents

Abstracti
Acknowledgementsii
Table of contentsiii
Introduction1
Chapter 1. The theoretical framework of the thesis5
1.1 Different approaches to reconciliation in international relations5
1.2 Backlash and its impact on the reconciliation of interstate interaction
Chapter 2. Contextualisation of the socio-political conflict between Ukraine and Poland 12
2.1 Nationalist conflict in Galicia in the late 19th century
2.2 The Ukrainian-Polish war and the interbellum period
2.3 World War II, the Volyn massacre and Operation Vistula
Chapter 3. The empirical analysis of the backlash of reconciliation in Ukrainian-Polish
relations
3.1 First attempts at reconciliation between Ukraine and Poland in the 1990s17
3.2 Persistence of bilateral conflict and contradictions in the 2000s21
3.3 Problems and contradictions of relations in the 2010s and early 2020s24
Chapter 4. Opportunities for overcoming the backlash and its significance in practice28
4.1 Measures to overcome backlash at the national levels of Ukraine and Poland28
4.2 Inter-state interactions to overcome backlash and achieve reconciliation34
Conclusion39
Reference List

Introduction

On a superficial examination, Ukrainian-Polish relations may seem amicable and favourable, especially recently against the backdrop of the Russian invasion of Ukraine and the re-emergence of the Russian threat (see further Korab-Karpowicz 2023). However, in reality, under the screen of positive interactions lies a significant and profound socio-political conflict that the parties have not been able to overcome for several decades and that prevents the two countries from genuine rapprochement and reconciliation. This conflict has its roots in the deep history of bilateral relations and is directly connected to national traumas that Poles and Ukrainians inflicted on each other. More importantly, in practice, attempts at reconciliation between Ukraine and Poland often cause popular backlash, not from a minority but from the majority of the population and sometimes even politicians and media. Despite having been studied very little in academic literature, this backlash is an essential factor that does not allow the conflict to be resolved. Therefore, a thorough, well-rounded and critical examination, especially given contemporary developments in bilateral relations, of why reconciliation still cannot happen, what role this backlash plays in it and how the latter can be overcome for the sake of achieving mutually beneficial relations is necessary.

Thus, as a starting point, the thesis will use Jennifer Lind's argument that backlash on either side will increase the threat perception of the opposing side (Lind 2008) but will go much further than this. It will connect this finding to reconciliation problems and substantially show that backlash can also negatively affect the latter. In this regard, it is paramount to primarily underline the following findings. Charles Glaser notes that the absence of backlash on acts of remembrance indicates "the stability of a country's consensus on its history", while its presence suggests the instability of a society's understanding of its history (Glaser et al. 2009, 342). The absence of a domestic backlash also becomes a signal to the other side that the country in

question is credible for reconciliation and ready for further cooperation, while its presence calls into question whether the country is credible in its intentions, aspirations and actions when it comes to past wrong-doings (Glaser et al. 2009, 359). Finally, Lind herself emphasises that if backlash can be avoided, reconciliation can be achieved more efficiently and thoroughly by opposing societies (see Lind 2008).

Based on the above, the thesis will delve into the question of why reconciliation between Ukraine and Poland has not yet happened despite numerous attempts to achieve it and the seeming existence of common ground. Indeed, intuitively, it may seem that there should be much more reconciliation between Ukraine and Poland in the current realities, as there is a historical and national affinity between them, and they now share a common threat perception of Russia. However, despite this, in reality, meaningful reconciliation has not happened even now; on the contrary, the countries are further away from achieving reconciliation now than in past decades. Such empirical developments create an interesting research puzzle about what and why exactly prevents reconciliation between Ukraine and Poland. Addressing such a research puzzle, this thesis argues that in the case of Ukraine and Poland, it is primarily due to the public backlash that hinders reconciliation and occurs when people feel that state attempts to address the problems of the past and achieve rapprochement are incorrect or insufficient. The thesis further asserts that the backlash is the main obstacle to reconciliation in the present case because it represents not isolated episodes but rather ongoing cycles of retaliatory backlash that engulf both nations. In addition, the thesis notes that analysing reconciliation through the lens of the backlash allows for the understanding that, contrary to traditional arguments, reconciliation occurs not so much at the state level and through the actions of political leaders but in domestic societies and depends on the reactions of the population. Thus, this thesis fills an academic gap in the literature's neglect of developments in domestic arenas and presents a different approach to assessing reconciliation and why it may not happen.

Accordingly, the relevance and significance of the findings of this thesis lie in the fact that although reconciliation has been problematised by some scholars to a certain extent, there is no thorough work on the Ukraine-Poland case study and even less so on backlash in domestic arenas as a critical factor hindering reconciliation. Most importantly, addressing the issue of reconciliation between Ukraine and Poland and suggesting how the backlash can be overcome is crucial because it problematises contemporary issues in Ukrainian-Polish relations against the background of the Russian invasion. The existence of the backlash and, therefore, the lack of reconciliation causes several significant problems in the interaction between Ukraine and Poland, both on the state and social levels, which negatively affects both sides. Because of the reconciliation backlash, instead of joining forces to confront Russia as a common external threat, Ukraine and Poland are antagonising each other. Furthermore, as long as there is such a backlash between Ukraine and Poland and the socio-political relations between them are still tense, both countries will be more likely to be targeted by propaganda and other adverse actions from Russia, which will see such a backlash as an opportunity to advance its position in the Eastern European region. In addition, as shown by examples of social conflict, including but not limited to the ongoing Polish farmers' protests, the lack of reconciliation and the persistence of backlash negatively impacts, among other things, the status and living conditions of ordinary citizens in both countries that suffer from the past instances of backlash, which is particularly damaging in times of crisis. Thus, only through understanding that backlash needs to be overcome to achieve mutually beneficial developments and arguing how this can be achieved will it be possible to resolve the problems between the two countries when it is most needed. Accordingly, the thesis will empirically address precisely these issues.

In terms of research methods, to achieve the set objectives, this thesis will rely on both secondary sources that discuss the issues academically and primary sources in the form of various official documents and media coverage of events and social developments. At the same

time, the range of sources addressed and analysed is not limited to English-language sources and will cover materials in the languages relevant to the case study - Polish, Russian and Ukrainian. Furthermore, the thesis will create a theoretical framework for analysing how and why the backlash affects reconciliation and then apply it to the practical case of the sociopolitical conflict between Ukraine and Poland. To create its own framework for analysing the impact of backlash, the thesis, drawing on existing academic findings on backlash and reconciliation, broadens, problematises, reshapes and, in places, criticises them. To empirically assess reconciliation and the corresponding backlash of the Ukrainian-Polish conflict, the thesis examines the main inter-national contradictions and traumas and analyses a series of practical examples of backlash throughout the history of Ukrainian-Polish relations. In addition, the thesis also proposes which courses of action the two countries can use to overcome the backlash in practice by conducting a comparative analysis of the Ukrainian-Polish case of reconciliation with similar significant examples from around the world. Thus, the thesis provides an analytical lens through which the impact of the backlash on reconciliation in other practical cases can be thoroughly analysed.

The thesis is structured as follows. The first chapter will present the theoretical framework for the thesis and examine different approaches to understanding reconciliation in international relations and the place of the backlash in this process. The second chapter will then provide a contextualisation of the Ukrainian-Polish conflict and examine the main historical milestones that have created national traumas for the two peoples that are still unresolved. Subsequently, the third chapter will provide empirical evidence on how backlash manifests itself and prevents reconciliation between the two countries and show what causes it. Finally, the fourth and final chapter will provide its own critical argumentation on how backlash can be overcome at national and inter-state levels. The conclusion will wrap up the discussion of the impact of the backlash on the reconciliation of relations between nations.

Chapter 1. The theoretical framework of the thesis

1.1 Different approaches to reconciliation in international relations

As envisioned in the introduction, reconciliation is still not sufficiently researched in the academic literature on international relations. Basically, it can be understood as a process in which "two former foes deal with their unhappy past [and] ... reach agreement on perceiving and treating their inimical history" (Wu and Yang 2016, 649). Nevertheless, the first chapter identifies several existing quality-distinctive works based on which a framework will be created to analyse the reconciliation of the conflict between Poland and Ukraine and the nature and impact of the backlash on it. Largely, the existing academic shortcomings in theorising reconciliation persist because Western-centric literature predominantly discusses reconciliation and related developments in the domestic rather than interstate domain (Wu and Yang 2016). In turn, this thesis argues that to properly understand and analyse reconciliation, it is necessary to consider not only intra-state but also inter-state reconciliation.

As for the literature advancing the academic understanding of reconciliation, Chengqiu Wu and Fan Yang fundamentally note that "[f]or two former antagonistic states to become friends and reach peace, they not only need to overcome the security dilemma in general, but also to go through a process of reconciliation" (2016, 645). These conclusions are extremely important in the framework of this thesis as they show that to achieve genuinely amicable and efficient relations that are free from conflict, it is not enough for countries to reach a superficial agreement; they have to rather go through a comprehensive path of reconciliation. Such findings also challenge the common academic argument that reconciliation and peacebuilding are the same. Similarly, William Long and Peter Brecke conclude that reconciliation is the "part of a forgiveness process characterised by truth telling, redefinition of the identity of the former belligerents, partial justice, and a call for a new relationship" (2003, 3). They further

believe that understanding and implementing reconciliation according to these foundations is sufficient to address the conflict. However, the thesis maintains that although these elements are important and should indeed be included in the process, it is paramount to also focus on additional elements since reconciliation is too complex to be narrowed down to this extent.

Accordingly, delving further into the theorisation of reconciliation of inter-state relations, the following fundamental elements should be noted. To begin with, Daniel Bar-Tal and Gemma Bennink underline that reconciliation, contrary to past academic understandings, is not so much a directly political as a psychological development, and that it is the psychological issues in nation-level relations that need to be addressed to achieve reconciliation (2004, 17-19). Thus, this thesis, in contrast to narrow approaches, understands reconciliation as "stable and lasting peace characterized by mutual recognition and acceptance, invested interests and goals in developing peaceful relations, as well as fully normalized, cooperative political, economic, and cultural relations" (Bar-Tal and Bennink 2004, 16). Moreover, the process of reconciliation itself "encompasses psychological changes of motivations, goals, beliefs, attitudes, and emotions, which are reflected in structural changes" (Bar-Tal and Bennink 2004, 24). Finding himself on a par with Bar-Tal and Bennink, Henri Tajfel further notes that to understand and utilise "both interstate and intrastate reconciliation adequately, politics and psychology must be brought together" since "much of our reluctance to 'come to terms with the past' is underpinned by our need to protect our collective ego" (Tajfel 1982 cited in Tang 2011, 727). The thesis argues that it is such a comprehensive examination of reconciliation through the psychology of the peoples and their motivations, beliefs, attitudes and emotions rather than just elitist politics that will help to correctly address the complexity of reconciliation problems.

Related to the previous argument, in-depth theorisations of reconciliation that are necessary to correctly account for complex cases can be found in Yinan He's work. He notes that complete reconciliation in practice consists of "two key components – stable peace and an amicable atmosphere – that cover both intergovernmental and people-to-people relationships" (2009, 13). Accordingly, she emphasises the need for its implementation not only in the political but also in the social spheres when the inter-connected advances in each will be equally meaningful. At the same time, He justifiably extends the framework to introduce institutional developments, processes and structures (2009, 14). Similar significant findings are also found in Charles Kupchan, who claims that "the degree of peace does not always reflect the degree of reconciliation" (2010, 12-13). In other words, Kupchan's findings suggest that peace and the presence of relations on the one hand and reconciliation and deep, mutually beneficial ties on the other are different things, and the presence of one does not automatically entail the presence of the other.

Moreover, Shiping Tang analysing the concept of reconciliation further distinguishes between shallow and deep reconciliations, arguing that "in the former conflict is 'thinkable' and in the latter conflict is 'unthinkable'" (2011, 719). This contribution is fundamental to the thesis framework as it not only emphasises that reconciliation can have different levels of depth but also notes that reconciliation not fully implemented will not completely rule out the possibility of future conflict. This is so because the opposite countries begin to question the potential of reconciliation to improve bilateral relations and address pressing historical traumas and stop seeing it as a remedy for the current situation. Finally, as Wu and Yang emphasise, "deep reconciliation not only requires the expansion of mutual understanding of history from political elites to the society in the horizontal dimension, but also the upgrading of relationship from one characterized by discrete gestures of apology and forgiveness to more institutionalized and deeper mutual understanding and affectionate restoration in the vertical

dimension" (2016, 649). In other words, only through deep reconciliation can common narratives about history be developed, identities of nations be changed from antagonistic to friendly and nationalistic tendencies in societies be overcome.

1.2 Backlash and its impact on the reconciliation of interstate interaction

While the first section has presented a theoretical framework for operationalising reconciliation, the second will analyse the academic understanding of the backlash phenomenon and its impact on reconciliation and inter-state relations. Fundamentally, backlash can be understood as "a protest or a rapidly mobilised counter-movement [having] an important and direct negative response to a specific policy, decision or action that is portrayed as having gone too far" (Alter and Zürn 2020, 563-564). In other words, it is a process when population, political elites and national media individually or collectively hamper the process of rapprochement and overcoming the historical traumas of the past with the opposing country because they perceive the measures taken, the actions performed or the ongoing processes as a whole improper, inconsistent with national interests or going too far than necessary. The thesis will distinguish several seminal works on backlash that help to create a framework necessary to account for more complex cases.

Above all, as academics such as Damien Short and Rosalind Shaw point out, despite the neglect of the backlash issue in mainstream work on reconciliation, the concept of reconciliation itself naturally involves disruptive power in the realm of memory and thus inherently predisposes the potential for backlash from the population. This is so because "calls for remembrance in the cause of reconciliation are in effect paradoxically also calls for its containment" (Short 2005, 268; see also Shaw 2007), which can be used by nationalist or conservative forces to promote their own narratives and prevent rapprochement with the former

opponent. Moreover, measures and actions to achieve reconciliation may themselves become a new site for increased inter-ethnic conflict. In this regard, "some groups [will use] public acts of remembrance to foreclose an awareness of past crimes, while others seek to use the same procedures to bring them to the light of day" (Rigney 2012, 253). Such findings show that backlash is a natural development closely linked to reconciliation. Moreover, as Paul Ricœur notes, while issues of memory and commemoration, in theory, aim at telling the truth about the past to ensure national rapprochement, in practice, because of its very nature, memory frequently only reinforces the 'divisiveness' between nations (2000, 84-85). Although he does not express his findings strictly in the context of backlash, this thesis goes further and argues that this 'divisiveness' that is produced by using memory as a tool is precisely what provides backlash and makes reconciliation difficult if the way in which people remember certain events does not match how the problem is addressed and presented in politics.

Similarly, practices and actions of remembrance are often detrimental to beneficial and forward-looking relations because "as the reconciliation scenario has become more recognisable as a template for nation-building and as a discourse, it has also been appropriated by those looking for a quick way out of their responsibilities by offering apologies or making symbolic gestures" (Lowenthal 2009, 913). Continuing, "the reconciliation scenario itself may help obfuscate the fact that past injustices have persisted into the present and that a radical change in the present, and not just symbolic gestures towards the past, may be required" (Grandin 2005, 48). Such developments usually lead to backlash, as societies have already learnt to detect if the opposite states or even sometimes their own political actors have malign intentions regarding reconciliation and will oppose any acts aimed at reconciliation if they believe that the latter will bring more negative developments for society than benefits (see further Tang 2011, 716). Given reconciliation scenarios have become more frequent and clearer to the public, societies will also take note if the crucial problems of their relationship are

addressed by the other side not fundamentally to finally overcome the contradictions for the sake of moving forward together, but intentionally or unintentionally partly only to benefit themselves from the situation. In the latter case, society will also tend to evoke the backlash to prevent the use of narratives around memory even more for its disadvantage.

Delving deeper into the problematisation of the backlash, another reason it is often triggered is that the practical use of reconciliation in its current understanding "yield[s] only a "thin" form of mere co-existence ... rather than the "thicker" form of social integration and solidarity" (Crocker 2000, 108). What the current operationalisation of reconciliation as thin co-existence achieves in practice, on the contrary, lays down a huge number of backlash triggers for peoples that can explode at any moment because it does not allow the most urgent and fundamental problems to be addressed. Continuing the previous argumentation, as Michael Ignatieff notes, although "the discourse of reconciliation implies that orchestrated remembrance can somehow build bridges between former enemies, ... [its] effectiveness is dependent on the prior readiness of the opposing parties to bury the hatchet" (Ignatieff 1996 cited in Rigney 2012, 253). Developing and deepening this conclusion, the thesis posits that a key element in understanding the reconciliation backlash is that it occurs when peoples who have experienced violence, conflict, or other types of national trauma are morally and psychologically unprepared to accept moving on beyond past problems. In turn, this most often happens when states have not properly utilised education and other memory vectors to facilitate their nations overcome the dark past and accept what happened in the past.

Another fundamental aspect to understanding why reconciliation is tainted by backlash is that often attempts to achieve reconciliation and address historical issues have only limited and short-term effects. For the population, however, such actions will be perceived negatively and will lead to rejection of such attempts if they "[are] not followed up by compensation

measures or any other complex measures that would help address underlying inequalities" and are not substantiated by something of actual worth to both sides (Short 2012, 294). So to speak, backlash arises and complicates further attempts at reconciliation if any of the measures taken earlier were "in effect a smokescreen diverting attention away" from the fundamental problems (Short 2012, 297). A significant but rarely considered addition to the presented arguments is Tang's conclusion that "when there is official silence, denial, and amnesia, there is no backlash – because there is no need for it" (2011, 717). Instead, the backlash happens and "comes to the forefront ... only when there is some official contrition", which is perceived by the target audience as something contrariwise stifling the situation, misaddressing fundamental issues or seeking to realise only narrow and egoistic political interests (Tang 2011, 717). A final important puzzle for understanding the nature of backlash is that both at the domestic and international levels, the backlash around reconciliation usually occurs when "the reconciliation policies and systems were implemented without building sufficient consensus at home" (Chun 2019, 375). Thus, building such consensus through education and other memory vectors is necessary for reconciliation to happen and the backlash to be overcome.

Chapter 2. Contextualisation of the socio-political conflict between Ukraine and Poland

2.1 Nationalist conflict in Galicia in the late 19th century

The origins of the Ukrainian-Polish conflict are found in nationalist tensions and struggles between the Polish and Ukrainian people in late 19th-century Galicia (Hryniuk 1993, 123). They were exacerbated by "competing national aspirations, socio-economic disparities [of the two nations], and political manoeuvres inside the crumbling Austro-Hungarian Empire" (Andrusiak 1935, 166-167). To further their national goals, both sides established competing cultural and educational institutions, newspapers and political organisations (Drummond and Lubecki 2010). While Polish entities such as the National Democratic Party sought to fight Ukrainian influence and consolidate Polish dominance, the Ukrainian Prosvita (Enlightenment) Society, in turn, played a crucial role in promoting literacy and national consciousness among Ukrainians. Although the existence of such organisations had the potential to channel the nations' contradictions into a constructive direction, both the Polish and Ukrainian sides used them to cultivate antagonism and mutual resentment (see further Magocsi 2002, 3-37). What is more important, despite sharing some common goals, such as the desire for greater autonomy, nationalist movements of Ukrainians and Poles were fundamentally opposed in their visions for the region's future. Thus, the Polish nationalist movement sought to restore Polish independence stemming from this region, while the Ukrainian organisations aimed to assert their own distinct identity in Galicia and "establish a political situation without any Polish or Austrian dominance", looking for initially significant socio-political autonomy and eventually independence (Hann and Magocsi 2005, 143).

Delving deeper, two more paramount issues that fueled the nationalist conflict between Ukrainians and Poles were language use and land ownership. Thus, educational institutions of

the Austrian-ruled Galicia became fundamental battlegrounds for nationalist sentiments since Polish and Ukrainian students fought over the representation of their cultures and their languages. For instance, Ukrainian students often heavily protested against the marginalisation of their language and culture in the Polish-dominated educational system (Fellerer 2003, 150-151; Ptashnyk 2011, 441-443). Regarding the land problem, the poverty and disempowerment of the Ukrainian peasantry starkly contrasted with the powerful estates held by the Polish nobles (Hryniuk 1993, 127-128). Sporadic efforts made in Vienna to redistribute land or grant more linguistic rights to Ukrainians to settle the conflict were, on the opposite, met with great resistance from the Poles, further deteriorating the ongoing situation. Furthermore, Austrian actions and policies ignited the conflict and tensions between Ukrainians and Poles not only because of the aforementioned Polish backlash against equalisation but also because the former frequently intentionally pitted one group against the other to retain power (Polonsky 1998). Economic policies reinforced social stratification and nationalist animosity by favouring Polish metropolitan centres over rural Ukrainian communities. Cultural agendas also conflicted, with Polish and Ukrainian efforts to raise national languages opposing imperial aspirations to promote the German language.

2.2 The Ukrainian-Polish war and the interbellum period

The collapses of the Russian and Austro-Hungarian empires following WWI and the subsequent power vacuum in Eastern Europe set the stage for the Ukrainian-Polish War (Magocsi 2002; Golczewski 2012; Rapawy 2016). It lasted between November 1918 and July 1919 and resulted in better-equipped Polish forces defeating the newly independent West Ukrainian People's Republic and incorporating Galicia with a substantial Ukrainian population into Poland (Pavliuk 1998). This war became a crucial and turning episode not only for the broader struggle for control of Galicia but also for the Ukrainian-Polish conflict in general. This is so because the Poles deprived the Ukrainians of an independent state and the freedom

to which the nation had long aspired and became, from the point of view of the Ukrainians, occupants of Ukrainian lands. As a result, Ukrainians started to consider the outcome of this war as a crucial national tragedy that severely hurt the whole nation and perceive Poles as a hostile nation that inflicts irreparable suffering on Ukrainians (Zhurzhenko 2013).

Furthermore, tensions and sporadic violence between the Polish state and the Ukrainian minority in Galicia persisted during the interwar years (Simoncini 1994; Palko and Foster 2021). Ethnic tensions were heightened by the Polish assimilation programmes, which included prohibitions on the use of the Ukrainian language and culture, land reforms that disadvantaged Ukrainian peasants, and the relocation of Polish colonists into regions where Ukrainians predominated. Thus, the Ukrainian language was restricted in public and educational settings as part of Poland's stringent Polonization efforts intended to assimilate the Ukrainian community (Riabushkina 2017, 32-34). Another target was the Ukrainian Greek Catholic Church, which was seen as an essential pillar of the Ukrainian identity (Riabushkina 2017, 37-40). Moreover, rural Ukrainian communities were disrupted by Polish settlers receiving preferential treatment and land reforms that disproportionately harmed Ukrainian peasants (Hryniuk 1993, 124). All these developments reinforced Ukrainians' perception of Poles as a hostile and antagonistic nation and of the Polish state as a force that seeks to destroy their national identity. This, in turn, drastically exacerbated the conflict between the two nations.

As a response, the Ukrainian population created several nationalist organisations that were supposed to promote their national cause and defend their rights. However, some of them, like the Organisation of Ukrainian Nationalists (OUN), ended up resorting to violent retribution, including sabotage and assassinations to undermine Polish authority and mobilise Ukrainian support (Rossoliński-Liebe 2023, 199-201). This, in turn, reinforced in the minds of the Polish people retaliatory beliefs that the Ukrainians were the enemy and a threat to their

longly-desired state and well-being of their nation that finally achieved self-rule. Finally, to stop such violence emanating from Ukrainian nationalists, the Polish state subjected the entire Ukrainian minority to significant repression, deprivation of rights and constant surveillance (Himka 1992, 399). Such responses, in turn, only further intensified Ukrainian opposition to Poles and intensified the inter-national conflict. So, these were the pillars that further amplified the conflict to the degree that these events are still reverberating among both nations.

2.3 World War II, the Volyn massacre and Operation Vistula

The outbreak of WWII had profound implications for Polish-Ukrainian relations because it intensified ethnic hostilities, leading to tragic events such as the Volyn massacre and Operation Vistula. During the Nazi occupation of Poland and Ukraine, both Polish and Ukrainian nationalist groups sought to exploit the changing political landscape for the benefit of their own causes (Golczewski 2012; Rapawy 2016). In this regard, the Ukrainian Insurgent Army (UPA), associated with the OUN, as a part of its programme, engaged in targeting the Polish population in Galicia and Volyn (Ilnytsky 2018, 43; Rossoliński-Liebe 2023, 203-204). Its activities reached the peak when the UPA attacked tens of thousands of civilian Poles in Volyn between 1943 and 1944, which resulted in the full-scale massacre (Rossoliński-Liebe 2023, 204-206). This was primarily driven by the goal of "ethnically purging the region in preparation for the creation of a future Ukrainian state" (Snyder 2003, 206). This massacre left the most crucial, non-negotiable and long-lasting scar on Polish-Ukrainian relations from the Polish perspective. Until today, for Poles, it has been the main factor preventing the two nations from achieving proper reconciliation and causing substantive backlash over any attempt to reconcile (Grytsenko 2021, 47-48).

However, that was not the end of the conflict, and in response to the Volyn massacre and the accompanying violence carried out by the UPA, after the end of WWII, the Polish

communist authorities implemented a series of retaliatory actions against the Ukrainian population (Lehmann 2009; Persak 2018). The most significant of them was Operation Vistula in 1947, which forcibly resettled hundreds of thousands of Ukrainians from southeastern Poland to the western and northern parts of the country, thereby dispersing the Ukrainian population and allegedly reducing the potential for further ethnic violence stemming from Ukrainian nationalists (Snyder 2003). Like the Volyn massacre for the Poles, this event became the most essential and fundamental national trauma for Ukrainians (see, for example, Kolomyichuk 2023). It, in turn, became the main obstacle to reconciliation from the Ukrainian understanding, and Poland's insufficient or incorrect handling of it has been causing significant backlash until today, further igniting the conflict between the two nations.

Thus, the Volyn massacre, Operation Vistula, and accompanying WWII events remain the central topic of a heated Ukrainian-Polish debate and confrontation. Thus, most Polish historians, such as Grzegorz Motyka, Władysław and Ewa Siemaszko, Władysław Filar and others, blame the nationalists from the OUN and UPA for the conflict between Poland and Ukraine that allegedly only started with the eviction of Poles from Volyn and Galicia (see further Motyka 2011; Siemaszko and Siemaszko 2008; Filar 2003). In turn, Ukrainian scholars, including Ivan Patryliak, Andrii Bolianovskyi and Ihor Iliushyn, primarily name the Polish authorities' discriminatory policies towards Ukrainians in the pre-war years that are still deliberately ignored by the Polish officials as the main reason for the contemporary conflict (see further Patryliak 2004; Bolianovskyi 2003; Iliushyn 2009). These examples show that even in academia, substantial disputes exist between scholars from both countries, which further prevents the possibility of achieving a mutually accepted understanding of history. However, this thesis argues that to reach reconciliation and finally overcome backlash, both sides must address past events and national traumas in a shared and mutually respective way.

Chapter 3. The empirical analysis of the backlash of reconciliation in Ukrainian-Polish relations

3.1 First attempts at reconciliation between Ukraine and Poland in the 1990s

After presenting a theoretical framework for understanding the backlash of reconciliation and providing historical contextualisation of the socio-political conflict between Ukraine and Poland, this thesis, by linking together the previous findings, will present an empirical analysis of how backlash of reconciliation has been occurring in the relations between the two countries since their independence. The third chapter will divide the analysis of the occurred backlash into decades, show what caused it, how it happened and answer whether the essence of backlash has changed over time in Ukraine-Poland relations. Yet, it must also be noted that the amount of available materials on this topic, both secondary academic works and primary sources showing the popular reactions and actions, especially for the decades of the 1990s and 2000s, is extremely limited. Therefore, this paper will, to some extent, be confined in its ability to carry out a deep analysis of the developments that took place but will make the best possible use of the available sources.

In 1992, as one of the first measures conducted at the inter-state level, Ukraine and Poland signed a Treaty of Good Neighbourliness, Friendly Relations and Cooperation. It was supposed to be a cornerstone for their future attempts to normalise relations and achieve reconciliation by emphasising the necessity for mutually beneficial, amicable and future-looking relations and proposing measures to achieve so (Treaty between the Republic of Poland and Ukraine ... 1992). Nevertheless, the public reaction of both nations to this treaty was sceptical and did not match the aspirations for reconciliation that state leaders had. Thus, although Poles recognised the necessity of signing a treaty with newly independent Ukraine,

the analysis of public opinion showed that at that time, the majority of the population had a predominantly negative or suspicious perception of independent Ukraine, recalling the numerous national traumas inflicted on the Polish people by Ukrainian nationalists fighting for independence, did not see how and why rapprochement with Ukraine could be useful and necessary for Poland, which was already striving for integration into the Western community and had a different political orientation, and was generally not interested in reconciliation with Ukraine (Osikowicz 2020, 45-49). In turn, Ukrainian public opinion, although not as categorically inclined, also did not see the possibility of reconciliation with Poland until it atoned for its historical guilt towards the Ukrainian people despite the far-reaching provisions of the treaty and perceived Poles as an antagonistic nation historically opposed to Ukrainian national aspirations, which also contradicted the text of the document (Osikowicz 2020, 117-121). While this was not a full-blown backlash yet, it did show in practice from the outset that, on a popular level, Ukrainians and Poles were not enthusiastic about the likely reconciliation.

The first crucial series of backlashes happened around the high-level visits by political leaders, such as the visit of Polish President Lech Wałęsa to Ukraine in 1993. These visits were supposed to further foster amicable bilateral relations and move closer to reconciliation based on the signing of the treaty, for which politicians from both countries aimed (Snyder 2003, 274). These visits always included symbolic acts of remembrance, mutual apologies for past grievances and joint statements by the state leaders on the closeness of the peoples of Poland and Ukraine and the desire to achieve full-fledged reconciliation (Terry 2000; Zięba 2002). However, the contradicting remembrance of WWII, particularly the Volyn massacre and Operation Vistula, which was not properly addressed during these state visits, emerged as a significant obstacle to reconciliation on a societal level and caused a huge backlash on the named high-level visits. In Poland, the backlash manifested itself in massive public protests that took place in many large cities against state actions aimed at reconciliation with a nation

that was still perceived as hostile (Portnov 2023, 68-71). In Ukraine, in turn, the first backlash did not assume such a critical form and was limited to occasional demonstrations and public disapproval of the government's actions communicated through the media (Kasianov 2022, 201-204). However, it should be noted that the less extensive scale of popular discontent in Ukraine was caused not so much by the public's acceptance of the government's actions on reconciliation, which, in fact, was not really accepted, but by the fact that at that time, Ukraine was mired in a serious economic crisis and the population was primarily dealing with other more pressing problems than opposing rapprochement with Poland.

Most importantly, these backlash developments were not confined to only some nationalistic groups but rather resonated across a wide swathe of the population since public opinion polls in both countries in the 1990s (see further CBOS 1997; KIIS 1997; Socis Omnibus 1999) showed mixed but mostly negative attitudes towards the opposite country and adverse feelings about possible reconciliation. Along the same lines, significant segments of both populations harboured deep-seated mistrust and resentment towards the other and were unwilling to let go of the national trauma inflicted on them. Furthermore, the media in both countries also played a crucial role in igniting the backlash because sensationalist and nationalist outlets were constantly exacerbating tensions between Ukrainians and Poles by presenting controversial historical issues in a one-sided and contradictory manner, deliberately provoking social conflict between the two nations around historical events and showing the opponent and his understanding of history in a negative light. For example, there were cases that became widely known in opposite countries when Ukrainian media openly presented Bandera and OUN as national heroes and noted that their actions against Poland were justified and deserved, or Polish media called the Ukrainian nation descendants of Nazis and equated layers of the Ukrainian population who disagreed with Polish positions on history with Nazis.

Understanding that their nations maintained the opposite and even clashing interpretations and remembrance of historical events and realising that this needs to be overcome to achieve successful inter-state relations, Presidents Kuchma and Kwaśniewski undertook another significant measure in 1997. They made a joint statement on the historical issues of WWII, the Volyn massacre and Operation Vistula (Joint Statement of the Presidents of Ukraine and the Republic of Poland ... 1997; see also RBC-Ukraine 1997; Nemenskii 2016), trying to show how exactly both nations can come to terms with their past and overcome previous national traumas and why it will be beneficial for both sides. However, both political circles and the overwhelming part of society in both Ukraine and especially Poland perceived this statement as incorrectly addressing the historical past and contradicting the countries' national interests for the sake of unclear prospects (Jędraszczyk 2018, 244). The main problems were that the declaration contained very soft language regarding the Volyn massacre and essentially equated it to the post-war Operation Vistula and attempted to shift responsibility for the mutual national traumas and tragedies of that time to outside actors. The latter is so because the declaration says, "we remember that sometimes the origins of these conflicts were beyond the borders of Ukraine and Poland and were caused by circumstances beyond the control of Ukrainians and Poles" (Joint Statement of the Presidents of Ukraine and the Republic of Poland ... 1997). This caused even more backlash from both sides and further pushed Poles and Ukrainians apart. If earlier protests against reconciliation were simply aimed against state actions in this direction, in this case, due to the fundamental rejection by both sides of the ideas and aspirations presented by their politicians in the statement, respectively, the anti-Polish and anti-Ukrainian public sentiments emerged in a widespread manner. More precisely, in Poland, a number of demonstrations and public events were held that presented the Ukrainian people as a hostile force, activists of Polish society destroyed dozens of memorial plaques and memorials dedicated to Ukrainians, which was widely supported by the public, and events organised in various Polish cities by Ukrainian consulates and embassies were disrupted (see further Jędraszczyk 2018). Parallel to this, in Ukraine, extensive media and public campaigns aimed at demanding Poland to recognise the guilt for the centuries-old historical traumas inflicted emerged while the perception of Poland in a positive light and the welcoming of a possible reconciliation with it decreased even more, falling by two or three times compared to the first years of independent Ukraine (see further Jędraszczyk 2018). In other words, the first substantiated attempt to address the national traumas of both peoples at the elitist state level failed because instead of admitting what happened, accepting past wrongdoings by both sides and paving the way to overcome this, it aimed to shift the responsibility to the Soviet regime and all its wrong policies.

3.2 Persistence of bilateral conflict and contradictions in the 2000s

Since the early 2000s, Ukrainian and Polish politicians, still striving to overcome the problems of the past and achieve effective cooperation in the present, have continued to attempt socio-political reconciliation, primarily in the context of the approaching 60th anniversary of the Volyn massacre. Thus, in July 2002, the same Presidents Kuchma and Kwaśniewski jointly opened the monument of the Ukrainian-Polish reconciliation, "Memory – Grief – Unity", in Volyn and made a statement, declaring that the events in Volhynia were a crucial tragedy for both nations (Radio Svoboda 2003; Korrespondent UA 2003; see also Taraniuk 2013; Nemenskii 2016). From a political point of view, this step might have been sufficient to pave the way for the reconciliation and resolution of the conflict. However, on the social level, both the monument because it did not allow for the creation of a public understanding that the two nations might look at past events differently and the statement was perceived by Poles with extreme hostility and caused a serious backlash manifested in popular protests, further and more intense compared to the 1997-1998 events anti-Ukrainian manifestations and performances, presenting the Polish understanding of historical issues as the only one correct,

which Ukrainians must allegedly accept (Kasianov 2006; Jędraszczyk 2018). It was so because the Polish population perceived that statement and the opening of the monument in such discourse as an equation of the guilt of Ukrainians and Poles themselves for the violence that took place and the alleged lack of historical justice concerning the Polish people in the absence of any indication of guilt on the part of Ukrainians. At the same time, among Ukrainians, the monument opening and statement initially provoked a positive reaction because they perceived it as a fact that the Polish side recognised its part of the blame for the violence that took place and the subsequent Operation Vistula. However, the described reaction of Polish society, its neglect that Poles also committed violence against Ukrainians and its positioning of Poles as the only victimised party caused already a retaliatory backlash from Ukrainians that manifested itself in widespread anti-Polish discourse and campaigns in the leading national media, public protests not limited to major cities but primarily in Western and Central Ukraine and even numerous instances of discrimination against Poles as representatives of an allegedly hostile nation throughout the country by various segments of the population (Hrytsak 2004; Kasianov 2006). This further prevented the prospects of reconciliation between the two countries. Critically analysing why this happened, both populations were still unwilling to accept their dark pasts, were not ready to understand the opposite side and overcome past contradictions to move forward and perceived their own remembrance of the past as undoubtedly and unequivocally correct.

A year later, Kuchma and Kwaśniewski, trying to overcome the previously happened Polish backlash and fix their mistakes in reconciliation attempts, participated in joint commemorations of the Volyn Massacre, where Kuchma issued the first apology on the official level for the atrocities committed by the UPA against Poles (Radio Svoboda 2016). It was intended to foster mutual understanding and healing but essentially led to renewed debates and controversies in both countries, this time primarily in Ukraine. Ukrainian society, which had

already been experiencing a rise in nationalism and anti-Polish sentiments by that time, experienced a significant surge in anti-Polish rhetoric that presented Poles as a threat to their national cause and corresponding anti-Polish activities, events and even acts of remembrance (Marples 2006). Such response from Ukrainians was thus perceived in Poland as an ultimate downplaying of Polish suffering during WWII and led to retaliatory protests, causing further social and political backlash. Polish activists, for instance, engaged in the destruction of Ukrainian monuments throughout the country and anti-Ukrainian performances in public places (Kasianov 2006; Nemenskii 2016). The described events of 2003-2004 had the most extensive scope of backlash and thus hindered reconciliation efforts and reinforced divisive narratives even more. Analysing these events using the theoretical framework presented, above all, they provide further empirical evidence for Lind's theorisation that official apologies can conversely hinder reconciliation, in this case, by provoking backlash. In addition, the backlash continued to take place because both nations were experiencing heavy divisiveness over historical issues, were not morally and psychologically prepared to move beyond the traumatic past since they did not have the appropriate spaces for discussing and understanding this and did not see how reconciliation can be useful and necessary for the development and overcoming of the country's pressing problems.

Another notable episode of backlash in the 2000s was the opening of a memorial to the fallen Ukrainians who died at the hands of the Polish Armia Krajowa (AK) by the following presidents, Lech Kaczynski and Viktor Yushchenko, in 2006 (Ukrainska Pravda 2006). This was a joint continuation at the political level to overcome the conflict for a beneficial future, with the two presidents jointly declaring that "[w]e have chosen the path of mutual understanding ... [and] Ukraine and Poland are demonstrating a new policy of solidarity" (Ukrainska Pravda 2006). However, it provoked a similar backlash at the public level of both nations. Ukrainians it warily after previous happenings from the Polish side but still accepted

it as a way to overcome divisions and contradictions entrenched in history and reconcile historical traumas. This was so because this memorial, for the first time, tried to address the event that was previously neglected by politicians of both states and overshadowed by the Volyn massacre and Operation Vistula but still left huge scars on the Ukrainian nation (RuBaltic 2024). Among Poles, however, opinions were more obstructive as Polish society believed that as long as the events of the Volyn massacre were not properly addressed by Ukraine and Ukraine was not brought to its historical responsibility, the opening of such memorials was inappropriate (Nemenskii 2016). Public opinion research even shows that for many Poles, this event became the last straw of patience, after which they were convinced that reconciliation with Ukraine due to its allegedly egoistic treatment of the history and modern development of bilateral relations was impossible (see statistical data in Nemenskii 2016). Thus, it shows that unveiling memorials to past events does not necessarily lead to reconciliation if they are not able to properly address historical grievances. In this case, it was so because there was no appropriate political climate around this memorial, populations of the opposing countries still perceived their counterparts distrustfully and doubted their intentions and aspirations and political elites tried to address the problems of the common history of the two peoples in isolation from the population itself.

3.3 Problems and contradictions of relations in the 2010s and early 2020s

In the 2010s, several substantial examples of backlash crucial for this thesis occurred. In 2013, the Polish Sejm started discussing an opportunity to attribute the term "genocide" to the Volyn massacre committed by Ukrainian nationalists, the fact of which would have seriously affected and deteriorated relations with Ukraine. The heated discussions took place between Polish liberals and conservatives, but eventually, the Sejm adopted a more cautious approach, recalling previous instances of the national backlash. It refused to declare July 11 as

the Day of Remembrance and, instead of the term genocide, approved the term "ethnic cleansing with elements of genocide" (Gazeta Prawna 2013). Despite this cautious approach, the backlash still happened on the level of both political elites and the general population. Polish conservators who had huge popular support accused the leader of liberals, Donald Tusk, of a lack of patriotism, ignorance of the national interests of Poles and even rewriting the history of the Polish nation (wPolityce 2014). The level of backlash significantly increased, resulting in the historical maximum level of Poles' hatred towards Ukrainians after Tusk answered this accusation, saying that "[a]ccording to the UN resolution, Ukrainians may well call the Vistula operation genocide" (WP Wiadomości 2013). Even though he reasoned his argumentation, such comments were utterly unjustified in front of the Poles, given the usual popular reaction to reconciliation measures that were incorrect from the popular point of view.

After the outbreak of the Russian-Ukrainian conflict in 2014, the situation in relations between Ukraine and Poland improved a bit since both states realised the need for political cooperation to counter the newly emerged Russian threat jointly. However, reconciliation actions the two countries took continued to cause a popular backlash as all the previously described issues causing backlash were still not addressed. This way, in 2016, based on the findings of the Polish Institute of National Remembrance (IPN) initiated by the conservatives, the Polish Sejm eventually recognised the events in Volyn as genocide of the Polish people (Nemenskii 2016). The IPN research and Sejm's actions provoked sharp and massive political and social unrest within Polish society, leading to anti-Ukrainian actions in Poland (Gazeta Wyborcza 2016). In particular, the Ukrainian monuments throughout Poland were demolished by the Polish activists, and, between 2014 and 2017, 15 UPA monuments were destroyed because they allegedly ran counter to the national narratives of the Polish people, conveyed an incorrect picture of Ukrainian nationalists and their actions and were generally inconsistent with Polish collective memory (UNIAN 2017). Since the Polish law enforcement bodies did

not react to these monument destructions, such actions led to widespread retaliatory anti-Polish movements, protests and events among Ukrainians and became one of the key factors in the aggravation of socio-political confrontation (UNIAN 2017).

Another remarkable instance of popular backlash affecting the Ukraine-Poland reconciliation happened in July 2017, when a commemorative event was held in Warsaw on the occasion of the anniversary of the Volyn massacre. During it, leading Polish politicians, deputies of the Sejm and representatives of the civil society, advancing their own historical narratives and the remembrance approach, carried posters stating "Stop Bandera" and "Remember Volyn" and chanted that "[w]e remember the genocide – we will not let Bandera's people live" (Ukrinform 2017). Some participants even wore armbands with the inscription "Polish Lviv" (Ukrinform 2017). Even though such actions and displays were in line with Polish understanding of the shared history with Ukraine and national traumas, it clearly showed how the Poles still neglected the necessity to understand the Ukrainian stances and different perceptions of historical grievances. Ukraine's response to Polish actions was not long in coming. Ukrainian politicians soon noted that "[t]he Poles think that they have 'restored justice'. In fact, they betrayed the Ukrainians ... [and] have fallen ill with chauvinism" (Military Review 2017). These stances resonated with the ordinary Ukrainian population, leading to a rise in anti-Polish sentiments and actions in the country's major cities, a return to the perception of Poles as an antagonistic and malevolent nation and a re-emergence of doubts about the prospects of ever-achieving reconciliation unless Poles renounce their perception of history (Belavusau, Gliszczynska-Grabias and Mälksoo 2021). This example of another round of backlash through the application of the theoretical framework shows that the roots of the problems stemmed from both nations' exploitation of nationalist sentiments rather than truthtelling, continued neglect of the need to accept and understand the existence of different views on historical traumas and the use of memory vectors in a consciously conflict-oriented rather

than conflict-solving direction. Thus, compared to the previous decades, some of the traditionally pressing causes of the backlash have not been resolved, but more significantly, new ones have emerged that were pushing the two nations away from reconciliation.

Finally, adopting controversial memory laws concerning the events of WWII in both countries became the latest important round of mutual backlash in the late 2010s-early 2020s. To be precise, in 2018, Poland passed amendments to the Act on the Institute of National Remembrance, which made it a criminal offence to defame Poland's 'good name' and accuse it of committing crimes against other nations in the past, as well as consolidated anti-Ukrainian positions justifying the oppression of Ukrainians currently living in Poland having connected these current measures to the past actions of Ukrainian nationalists against Polish civilians in WWII (Soroka and Krawatzek 2019, 163). In turn, constantly amended until 2019, laws on decommunisation in Ukraine not only restricted freedom of speech for national minorities living in Ukraine but also explicitly honoured nationalist organisations and individuals who participated in the massacres of Poles as part of the Volyn Massacre and other attacks on civilians in the bordering regions of Ukraine and Poland (Koposov 2021, 274-276). These amendments were seen by both nations as attempts by their counterpart to solidify nationalistic and historically wrong narratives. Not surprisingly, adopting such amendments to laws, which is a misuse of such memory vectors, caused widespread popular protests on the streets, in the main traditional media and social media in both countries. Moreover, in response to these laws, nationalist groups in both countries staged demonstrations and ignited, respectively, anti-Polish or anti-Ukrainian sentiments (Rysicz-Szafraniec 2021), further polarising public opinion and pushing nations away from each other.

Chapter 4. Opportunities for overcoming the backlash and its significance in practice

4.1 Measures to overcome backlash at the national levels of Ukraine and Poland

The thesis will conclude the analysis of reconciliation and the corresponding backlash between Ukraine and Poland by explaining what currently lacking measures can be used by the countries to overcome this backlash and why it is essential in practice. The thesis starts with measures that should be taken at the national levels of the two countries but notes that to effectively overcome the backlash, all the measures presented here should be implemented together and not in isolation, including the later discussed measures in the interstate domain. Above all, in their own domestic domains, both countries separately should strive to achieve a consensus within their nations on the perception of their history and the traumatic past. Nowadays, in both countries, different segments of the nation depending on the political spectrum (conservative or liberal-minded in terms of history population), region of origin (Eastern or Western Ukraine, which had an incomparable level of interaction with the Poles, or conversely so-called "Regained Lands" of Poland or regions historically connected with Ukrainians) and even age group perceive their nation's history and national traumas differently (see further Osipian and Osipian 2012; Liebich et al. 2018 for Ukraine and Lupion 2017 for Poland). In such realities, when it comes to historical issues, there is no unified society within either Ukraine or Poland; instead, there are many sub-communities that have different views on history and react differently to attempts to address it. Because of this, as seen in Chapter three, depending on the developments, the reconciliation backlash has been provoked by different sections of society holding different historical positions. Therefore, this thesis argues that to overcome the described backlash cycles, both countries must first endeavour to reach a consensus within their nation regarding historical issues. Without overcoming this divisiveness, backlash will inevitably continue to occur (Rigney 2012, 252; Chun 2019, 388).

Reaching a consensus on historical issues and traumas even within one nation if it is divided and polarised enough, which is still the case both for Ukraine and Poland, will be indeed challenging, as the practical cases of consensus building within Japan or South Korea, for example, confirm (see Takekawa 2015 for Japan and Park 2020 for South Korea). Nevertheless, Shiping Tang addressed precisely this problem and argued, among other things, that within one nation, such a consensus can be achieved if proper efforts are made, and to do so, it is primarily necessary to utilise the resources of the educational system and conduct media campaigns (see further 2011, 740). Connecting these findings to the considered case and furthering them, this thesis asserts that this is highly relevant for Ukraine and Poland. The problem in both countries, however, is that, at the moment, their education systems do not adequately address the issue of historical memory and thus lay the foundations for dissensus within the respective societies rather than consensus, while the national media further create such negative polarisation (Studenna-Skrukwa 2021, 99-101; Moskwa 2021, 155-156). At the same time, this issue should be addressed by both Ukraine and Poland with caution and not allow the rewriting of history under the guise of consensus building. However, it is necessary to make an immediate reservation that due to strong contradictions between Ukraine and Poland on the inter-societal level, a consensus on the history between the countries is unlikely to be reached. Thus, the next section will describe how, instead of a consensus on the interstate level, the two nations should develop an understanding and acceptance that their opponent sees and will continue to see history differently.

However, apart from the fact that such a consensus at home will be challenging to achieve, consensus alone will not suffice. The thesis argues that an important task for Ukraine

and Poland at the domestic level in terms of working on history, together with the pursuit of public consensus, should also be addressing and recognising the dark sides of the own past. To pave the way for reconciliation and prevent the return of the backlash, both countries must assist their peoples in becoming aware of their dark legacies and create appropriate mechanisms or platforms through which such popular understanding can be achieved (Grytsenko 2021). In parallel with making the people aware of their dark legacies, they will be made aware that the other side has its own views of history and the different feelings that come from it, which is also essential to moving forward (Bull and Cacciatori 2020). Moreover, in this regard, states need to ensure that those who speak out and draw the attention of the general public to the dark pasts of their own history can do so freely and are not then persecuted by the state or society itself because of it. This element of freedom of expression about one's dark past is an important pillar on the road to overcoming the backlash. In turn, achieving awareness of one's own people about own dark legacies can be achieved through greater work in the field of history education, for example, by creating educational materials that recognise one's own dark legacies rather than blaming the opponent and denying that the nation itself has done anything wrong, by promoting such knowledge through the media, including social media, which will help to attract the attention of the younger generation and also through the activities of the institute of national memory, discussed elsewhere in this thesis.

In addition, although this measure may seem contradictory at first glance, this paper advocates that to avoid a reconciliation backlash, Ukraine and Poland should have the same or at least similar foreign policy aspirations and practices. More specifically, in the case in question, the Poles' backlash against reconciliation attempts can be overcome when they are fully convinced that Ukraine has irrevocably embarked on a course of Westernisation and Euro-Atlantic integration and thus understand that they will henceforth share political convictions with the Ukrainians and will not doubt their intentions and aspirations. The importance of this

in theoretical terms was discussed in Chapter one, and case studies support such conclusions. For instance, in the case of Poland and Germany, the backlash in German society around possible reconciliation effectively and in quick time ceased after Poland's political course after the collapse of the Soviet bloc turned out to be in line with that of an already united Westcentred Germany (Nasalska 2000, 56). Also, in a similar case to Ukraine and Poland, Japan and South Korea saw a decline in backlash and increased reconciliation when, with the return of geopolitical confrontation in the 2010s, their populations realised that their national political aspirations were on one side of the spectrum against the actions of China, North Korea and partly Russia in their region (Wu and Yang 2016, 656). Similarly, between Ukraine and Poland, the level and scope of backlash have been on a downward trend since the late 2010s, when Ukraine clearly embarked on the Euro-Atlantic course that Poland had long been on, and Poles realised that they could try to build trust with Ukraine despite the backlash in the previous decades when Ukraine was still perceived as a country with an opposite Euro-Asian/post-Soviet orientation with which trust would be difficult to build (Grytsenko 2021, 41-42; Portnov 2021, 23-25). However, the full effect has not yet been achieved, so to overcome the backlash, Ukraine, which has embarked on a Western development path, needs to confirm this more often and more clearly in front of Poles, which has been the case since the Russian invasion.

Furthermore, to overcome the backlash of reconciliation, countries in their domestic arenas must create free spaces for discussing historical memory and a suitable political environment for truth-seeking. One might say, based on the previous argument, that Ukraine and Poland should then have achieved reconciliation while both were part of the Soviet bloc, which, in fact, did not happen. Acknowledging this, this thesis goes further and argues that this is so because, in the realities of socialist systems, Ukrainians and Poles did not have the opportunity to properly and freely express their views on the problems of the historical past, which is necessary to overcome the backlash. Instead, the existing system that forbade

discussion of historical inter-national traumas laid a huge foundation for backlash between Ukrainians and Poles (see further Bilinsky 1994). The presence of an opportunity for open expression on inter-national relations and a suitable political environment would prepare Ukrainians and Poles morally and psychologically to move beyond past national grievances and traumas (Grytsenko 2021, 47), the significance of which on a theoretical level was discussed in Chapter one. In turn, to create such a political environment, as Ann Rigney noted, Ukraine and Poland can utilise different vectors of memory and especially "performative [and] ... less-codified forms of commemoration that sometimes operate in conjunction, sometimes in tension, with legal procedures" launched by state actors (2012, 251). At the same time, given that for both Ukraine and Poland, museums and memorials are key vectors of remembrance concerning bilateral relations (Kozlova 2023, 251; see also Verbytska and Kuzmyn 2019), it is through their use that both countries can create psychological and moral readiness among their populations to overcome past national traumas in their domestic arenas.

On a similar note, to overcome the emergence of backlash in the domestic arena, both Ukraine and Poland should ensure that the memory vectors they have and use cease to be sites for the clash around historical and political developments and national traumas, the theoretical importance of which was also discussed in the first chapter. The most striking example of a memory vector becoming a site of clash, causing a massive and fundamental backlash and preventing reconciliation between countries, is the Yasukuni Shrine in Japan (Mochizuki 2010, 36). In Ukraine and Poland, though, most monuments and memorials, museums and expositions and even activities of national memory institutes are likewise places for clashes that cause backlash (see Stryjek and Konieczna-Sałamatin 2021). The most promising option for both countries to overcome this is to create unambiguous, historically accurate and acceptable by the opponent narratives around such memory vectors in the domestic arena and, through this, also educate their populations and lay the foundations for their rapprochement

with the other side. Another mechanism to overcome or prevent backlash at the national level for Ukraine and Poland is to use reconciliation with the other country to effectively address relevant and pressing societal issues. In other words, to prevent backlash, reconciliation measures with the opposite country should not overshadow or distract attention from the pressing and immediate problems of the country at the moment but rather link reconciliation to the possibility of solving them and show its population how the implementation of reconciliation will benefit it (see Bar-Tal 2009). In the case of Ukraine and Poland, the most relevant scenario now would be to link the benefits of reconciliation with mitigating a security threat to both Ukrainians and Poles from Russia by strengthening mutual ties and mutual action in the face of such a threat.

Finally, the thesis also argues that to overcome backlash at the national level, Ukraine and Poland must take comprehensive measures to suppress and mitigate nationalism in their countries. Although this issue is rarely considered in the context of the essence and manifestation of backlash, empirical examples, such as the case of Japan and China (Wu and Yang 2016, 656) or Poland and Russia (Zięba 2023, 104), show the importance of this issue in two opposite ways. On the one hand, if nationalism grows in a country's society, people will become much more sensitive to the attitude towards the past and the current actions of the opposite country, which will cause more frequent and deeper discontent with reconciliation attempts, resulting in backlash. On the other, if society becomes more nationalistic, it will be less willing to forgive historical traumas and past violence committed by the other country and will increasingly oppose the reconciliation actions of its own government, which will also result in backlash. The analysis in empirical Chapter three shows that, unfortunately, the growth of nationalism is a case for both countries in question and Poland in particular, which is the reason for such a frequent, widespread and repetitive backlash. Regarding how exactly Ukraine and Poland can prevent the growth of nationalism, especially in the context of

historical problems, the most promising opportunity would be the effective and conducive use of national institutes of memory. An analysis of the essence of the Institute of National Remembrance (IPN) in Poland and its counterpart entity, the Ukrainian Institute of National Memory (UINM), shows that both of them have as one of their main goals the counteraction against history-driven nationalism in their countries (see Faraldo 2021). Therefore, a greater investment in them and a greater emphasis on them when dealing with historical problems at home can help to counter such a rise of nationalism in both societies and thus overcome the mutual backlash.

4.2 Inter-state interactions to overcome backlash and achieve reconciliation

Turning to the domain of inter-state interaction, which is just as important, if not more so, for overcoming the backlash of reconciliation, several primary areas of action can help achieve this task. Above all, as emphasised in the last section, both nations need to jointly come to an understanding and, most importantly, acceptance that there are different perspectives on historical developments, problems and traumas and that their perception of the former is not the only correct one. To overcome the return of backlash and to be able to move forward positively from past national traumas and grievances, Ukrainians and Poles need to understand the point of view of the opposite side and comprehend why the perception of past events in one or another existing form is essential for their counterpart and cannot be changed so easily. Both sides should not deny that their opponent has its own perception of history, but this does not mean that either nation should abandon its own perceptions of historical tragedies and forget its history. Instead, the peaceful co-existence of different stances on history as something that may contradict one another to a certain extent but at the same time co-exist should be achieved. Borrowing this term from Anna Bull, the thesis calls this desired situation between Ukrainians and Poles "agonistic memory", which could be basically understood as applying and adopting

the concept of "agonistic peace" to the discipline of memory politics and the matter of reconciliation (see discussions on "agonistic memory" in Bull and Hansen 2015; Bull and Cacciatori 2020; Bull, Hansen and Colom-González 2021). Currently, the fundamental problem, though, is that both nations still believe that their view of history is the only correct one, and the other side is obliged to accept it.

Moving from theoretical considerations to the possibility of practical action, Ukraine and Poland have several key tools to achieve this. Above all, these are the institutes of national memory of the two countries, between which there are established ties, frequent cooperation to address the problems of the past and, most importantly, joint public activities aimed at both societies together in the form of organising joint commemorations and remembrance events, informing the general public about archival findings about their common history and cooperating on conducting work on the history of Ukrainians in Poland and Poles in Ukraine (Wojnar 2021, 74). In view of this and the fact that in recent years, they have received increased commitment and funding from their governments, they can become the main platforms through which the understanding of the importance of achieving a peaceful co-existence of different views on the history of the two peoples can be communicated to the public. Another opportunity to achieve this would be the work on the development of joint history textbooks and other historically oriented educational material aimed at a wide range of audiences, the need for which was noted in the previous section. These materials, if successfully implemented, could promote an understanding of shared history that takes into account the presence of different views of the two nations on the most pressing events of the past, prepare both nations to accept the peaceful co-existence of different perspectives on history and show both nations why it is important to accept and understand the positions of the other side in order to move forward in a mutually favourable and beneficial way (see further Pingel 2008; Lässig 2009). In other words, they will help Ukrainians and Poles achieve the condition of "agonistic memory" Finally, another promising course of action in this regard is the creation of joint monuments and memorials that, by addressing the problems of the past, will promote narratives about the possibility of co-existence of different perceptions of the events of the common past (Buckley-Zistel and Schäfer 2014; Frith 2015). The problem nowadays, as seen in Chapter three, is that the current monuments, even if opened jointly, do not aim to achieve such a goal and, vice versa, often seek to deny other perceptions of history, which is exactly what causes the popular backlash.

Another fundamental measure to overcome the backlash of the Ukrainian and Polish populations in the interstate domain is the need for countries to accompany their symbolic gestures with practically meaningful actions that will be of value to the opposing nation. The way in which the absence of this logically leads to people's backlash on a theoretical level is discussed in the first chapter. Analysing empirical situations, in 1970, German Chancellor Brandt, while in Poland, fell on his knees in front of a monument to the victims of the Warsaw Ghetto Uprising, and after that, the backlash for at least superficial reconciliation on the part of Poles that had persisted in the decades before started to gradually decline (see Phillips 2001). In 2016, in precisely the same way, Ukrainian President Poroshenko kneeled in front of the monument to the victims of the Volyn massacre, but in this case, Poles, after a while, expressed even greater dissatisfaction with Ukraine's actions and perceived Ukrainian policy towards the memory of the past as unacceptable (Soroka 2022, 342-343), which only increased the backlash. The critical difference showing how to avoid backlash and achieve reconciliation is that in the German case, the symbolic gesture towards the Poles by Brandt was accompanied by significant, from the Polish stances, practical actions such as the signing of a treaty on the recognition of post-war borders and the establishment of common historical research committees to assess German guilt (Wu and Yang 2016, 653) while in the Ukrainian case, no actions were taken that could have cemented Ukraine's position as a partner seeking to

overcome the problems of the past. Therefore, for Ukraine to avoid a Polish popular backlash, it is necessary to combine symbolic gestures with some practical actions that would confirm a genuine and not just verbal interest in reconciliation. At the same time, the thesis argues that Ukrainians will naturally expect similar practically valuable and significant measures from Poland, as only a unilateral action in this direction will, on the contrary, cause a backlash in the country that first took some practical reconciliation-oriented actions. The example of Brandt's kneeling empirically illustrates this because after his actions, the backlash on the part of Poles indeed decreased but, on the opposite, drastically rose within the German society because Poland did not respond with any similar actions aimed at reconciliation (Wu and Yang 2016, 653). Because of this, which may be more difficult but also achievable, the two countries will also need to coordinate their symbolic gestures and practically significant actions to avoid backlash both at home and in the opponent's society.

Finally, this thesis argues that another key opportunity for Ukraine and Poland to overcome backlash is to make their joint actions politically and legally transparent. Thus, the countries should explain more to the population of the opposite country the nature and direction of their actions and how they are aimed at sincere reconciliation (Chun 2019, 386), as well as conduct legal actions regarding the treatment of past events not in a closed mode as it happens now, especially in Poland, but in a relatively public one. In this way, the population of the opposite country will better understand the thinking and reasoning regarding addressing the joint past of their opponent and will be less afraid of the obscurity and secrecy of what their opponent is doing, thus reducing the prospects of backlash. Moreover, such actions will also help countries to gain greater acceptance of themselves as promising and reliable partners for the future rather than current opponents in the eyes of the opposite society (see discussion in Szpak and Bunikowski 2022). On a final note, to prevent or overcome backlash, Ukraine and Poland should jointly involve more actors beyond the state in the reconciliation process

(Rigney 2012, 253). This would help societies gain greater confidence in the favourable intentions of the opposing state, create a more robust system of interconnections necessary to leave no room for backlash and generally create greater acceptance on the part of both nations of moving forward past national traumas.

Conclusion

Summing up, the thesis has addressed the problem of reconciliation of the conflict between Ukraine and Poland. It has shown that although on a superficial examination, the two countries may appear to enjoy cooperative and positive relations, in reality, the interaction between them is permeated by a multi-layered confrontation. Despite several attempts by state leaders to achieve interstate reconciliation and even a common threat perception in the form of Russia, reconciliation has not yet been achieved. In this regard, the thesis argues that the main reason for this is the public reciprocal backlash against political attempts to achieve reconciliation, which moreover represents not isolated cases but constant cycles of reciprocal backlash. This backlash is primarily related to the two nations' conflicting understandings of their shared history, unwillingness to overcome past national traumas and lack of understanding that the opposing nation has its own views and feelings about history that cannot be changed.

The first chapter has created its own in-depth analytical framework to better account for the concepts of reconciliation and backlash. It has achieved this by advancing, improving and critically re-evaluating existing academic findings. In particular, regarding reconciliation, this thesis has argued for adopting a broader understanding, highlighting that reconciliation primarily takes place at the level of societies and not so much states, occurs at the psychological level of people and depends not only on the inter-state but, most importantly, the intra-state domain. Concerning backlash, the presented framework has noted that it is a natural phenomenon when addressing historical problems, arises because the actual approaches to reconciliation favour "thin coexistence" instead of "thick integration" and attempts at reconciliation usually have only partial and short-term intentions.

The second chapter has analysed the main historical episodes of the socio-political conflict between Ukraine and Poland and examined the national traumas that the two nations

have inflicted on each other. The origins of the underlying problems and contradictions can be traced back to late 19th-century Austrian-ruled Galicia, which witnessed a nationalist conflict between Ukrainians and Poles over the right to exist in the region. The conflict continued through the interbellum period, when war broke out between Ukrainians and Poles, as a result of which significant Ukrainian territories became part of the newly formed Polish state, and the remaining Ukrainians experienced drastic Polonisation. However, the key and still irreparable problem of inter-ethnic interaction that impedes reconciliation is the events of World War II and the first post-war years, which marked the mutual killing of civilians by Ukrainian nationalists and the Polish insurgent army, the ethnic cleansing of Polish civilians by Ukrainian nationalists and the subsequent forced resettlement of large numbers of Ukrainians by the Polish socialist regime.

The third chapter has critically assessed the main episodes of popular backlash against state attempts at reconciliation and suggested what were the main reasons for this, aligning with the theoretical framework presented in the first chapter. Thus, in the 1990s and 2000s, the main reasons for the backlash were the distrust of both peoples towards each other, the ignorant promotion of their own views of history and the refusal to accept that the opposing side might have a different vision of history, the inability of both societies to understand each other and the inconsistency of people's views on a possible reconciliation with the aspirations of their politicians. The 2000s also witnessed a rise in nationalism in both societies, which was linked, among other things, to the incorrect, from the societies' point of view, addressing of the common past by political elites and the intensification of controversy around history issues due to the lack of acceptance of the way history issues were addressed in the opposing society. In the 2010s, the level of backlash has not decreased despite the emergence of a common threat and, retaining all the problems causing backlash from previous decades, also witnessed the deliberate actions of certain population segments against reconciliation.

Finally, the fourth chapter has empirically suggested how the backlash between Ukraine and Poland can be overcome in practice. Thus, in the domestic arenas, both countries should strive for a national consensus on history, help populations become aware of the dark legacies of their own history, have similar political aspirations, avoid turning existing vectors of memory into sites of clash, direct the achievement of reconciliation towards addressing pressing societal issues and prevent the reinforcement of nationalism. In turn, in the inter-state domain, both countries should ensure that both nations understand that their opponent will see history differently but that peaceful coexistence of different perspectives on history is possible, confirm their symbolic gestures and talk about the desire for reconciliation with practically meaningful actions, create opportunities for free inter-national discussion of history and the corresponding political climate, make their joint actions politically and legally transparent and involve more non-state actors in the process of reconciliation.

Reference List

- Alter, Karen J., and Michael Zürn. 2020. 'Conceptualising Backlash Politics: Introduction to a Special Issue on Backlash Politics in Comparison'. *British Journal of Politics and International Relations* 22 (4): 563–84. https://doi.org/10.1177/1369148120947958/ASSET/IMAGES/LARGE/10.1177_1369148120947958-FIG1.JPEG.
- Andrusiak, Nicholas. 1935. 'The Ukrainian Movement in Galicia'. *The Slavonic and East European Review* 14 (40): 163–75. https://www.jstor.org/stable/4203093.
- Bar-Tal, Daniel. 2009. 'Reconciliation as a Foundation of Culture of Peace'. In *Handbook on Building Cultures of Peace*, 363–77. Springer, New York, NY. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-09575-2_25.
- Bar-Tal, Daniel, and Gemma H. Bennink. 2004. 'The Nature of Reconciliation as an Outcome and as a Process'. In *From Conflict Resolution to Reconciliation*, 11–38. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/ACPROF:OSO/9780195166439.003.0002.
- Belavusau, Uladzislau, Aleksandra Gliszczynska-Grabias, and Maria Mälksoo. 2021. 'Memory Laws and Memory Wars in Poland, Russia and Ukraine'. *Jahrbuch Des Öffentlichen Rechts* 69:95–117. https://doi.org/10.2139/SSRN.3806091.
- Bilinsky, Yaroslav. 1994. 'Basic Factors in the Foreign Policy of Ukraine: The Impact of the Soviet Experience'. In *The International Politics of Eurasia: V. 1: The Influence of History*, 19–40. Taylor and Francis. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315483894-10/BASIC-FACTORS-FOREIGN-POLICY-UKRAINE-YAROSLAV-BILINSKY.
- Bolianovskyi, Andrii. 2003. *Ukrainian Military Formations in the German Armed Forces* (1939–1945) [Ukrainski Viiskovi Formuvannia v Zbroinykh Sylakh Nimechchyny (1939–1945)]. Lvov: Instytut ukrainoznavstva im. I. Krypiakevycha NAN Ukrainy. https://chtyvo.org.ua/authors/Bolianovskyi_Andrii/Ukrainski_viiskovi_formuvannia_v_zbroinykh_sylakh_Nimechchyny_1939-1945/.
- Buckley-Zistel, Susanne, and Stefanie Schäfer. 2014. 'Memorials in Times of Transition'. In *Memorials in Times of Transition*, 1–26. Intersentia. https://doi.org/10.1017/9781780685717.001.
- Bull, Anna Cento, and Mattia Cacciatori. 2020. 'Literature Review: An Introduction to Agonistic Memory and DisTerrMem'. Bath, United Kingdom. https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5cf24f3849c4120001217452/t/5ec276e943f4d46c9 0289a2e/1589802813457/Literature+Reviews_Introduction_Agonistic+memory+and+D isTerrMem_Jan-20.pdf.
- Bull, Anna Cento, and Hans Lauge Hansen. 2015. 'On Agonistic Memory'. *Memory Studies* 9 (4): 390–404. https://doi.org/10.1177/1750698015615935.
- Bull, Anna Cento, Hans Lauge Hansen, and Francisco Colom-González. 2021. 'Agonistic Memory Revisited'. In *Palgrave Macmillan Memory Studies*, 13–38. Palgrave Macmillan, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-86055-4_2.

- CBOS. 1997. 'Polish Public Opinion'. Public Opinion Research Center. 1997. https://www.cbos.pl/EN/publications/public_opinion.php.
- Chun, Jahyun. 2019. 'Social Divisions and International Reconciliation: Domestic Backlash against Foreign Policymaking between Japan and South Korea'. *International Studies Perspectives* 20 (4): 373–89. https://doi.org/10.1093/ISP/EKZ013.
- Crocker, David A. 2010. 'Truth Commissions, Transitional Justice, and Civil Society'. In *Truth v. Justice: The Morality of Truth Commissions*, 99–121. Princeton University Press. https://doi.org/10.1515/9781400832033-006/MACHINEREADABLECITATION/RIS.
- Drummond, Andrew J., and Jacek Lubecki. 2010. 'Reconstructing Galicia: Mapping the Cultural and Civic Traditions of the Former Austrian Galicia in Poland and Ukraine'. *Europe-Asia Studies* 62 (8): 1311–38. https://doi.org/10.1080/09668136.2010.504385.
- Faraldo, José M. 2021. 'The "Centres of Remembrance" in Post-Communist Europe'. In *Archives and Human Rights*, 204–17. Taylor and Francis Inc. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429054624-21/CENTRES-REMEMBRANCE-POST-COMMUNIST-EUROPE-JOS.
- Fellerer, Jan. 2003. 'Discourse and Hegemony: The Case of the Ukrainian Language in Galicia under Austrian Rule (1772—1914)'. In *Diglossia and Power*, 107–66. Mouton de Gruyter. https://doi.org/10.1515/9783110197204.3.107.
- Filar, Władysław. 2003. The 1939-1944 Volyn Extermination or Polish-Ukrainian Fights: A Historical and Military Study of the Struggles in Volyn in Defense of Polishness, Faith and Human Dignity [Wołyń 1939-1944 Eksterminacja Czy Walki Polsko-Ukraińskie: Studium Historyczno-Wojskowe Zmagań Na Wołyniu w Obronie Polskości, Wiary i Godności Ludzkiej]. Toruń: Pub. Adam Marszałek. https://search.library.wisc.edu/catalog/999952719102121.
- Frith, Nicola. 2015. 'The Art of Reconciliation: The Memorial to the Abolition of Slavery in Nantes'. In *The Limits of Memorialization: Commemoration, Musealization and Patrimony*, 68–89. Liverpool University Press. https://www.cambridge.org/core/books/at-the-limits-of-memory/art-of-reconciliation-the-memorial-to-the-abolition-of-slavery-in-nantes/4344AF551B4C2A30638FF7812EDC47FB.
- Gazeta Prawna. 2013. 'The MPs Decided: The Volyn Massacre Was Not Genocide [Posłowie Zdecydowali: Zbrodnia Wołyńska Nie Była Ludobójstwem]'. *GazetaPrawna.Pl*, 2013. https://www.gazetaprawna.pl/wiadomosci/artykuly/718280,poslowie-zdecydowalizbrodnia-wolynska-nie-byla-ludobojstwem.html.
- Gazeta Wyborcza. 2016. 'Volyn: Massacre or Genocide? [Wołyń: Rzeź Czy Ludobójstwo?]'. *Wyborcza.Pl*, 2016. https://wyborcza.pl/7,75398,20434599,wolyn-rzez-czy-ludobojstwo.html.
- Glaser, Charles L., Thomas U. Berger, Mike M. Mochizuki, and Jennifer Lind. 2009. 'Roundtable Discussion of Jennifer Lind's Sorry States: Apologies in International Politics'. *Journal of East Asian Studies* 9 (3): 337–68. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1598240800006706.

- Golczewski, Frank. 2012. 'Civil War in Occupied Territories: The Polish–Ukrainian Conflict during the Interwar Years and the Second World War'. In *Territorial Revisionism and the Allies of Germany in the Second World War*, 141–60. Berghahn Books. https://doi.org/10.1515/9780857457394-012/HTML.
- Grandin, Greg. 2005. 'The Instruction of Great Catastrophe: Truth Commissions, National History, and State Formation in Argentina, Chile, and Guatemala'. *The American Historical Review* 110 (1): 46–67. https://doi.org/10.1086/AHR/110.1.46.
- Grytsenko, Oleksandr. 2021. 'Politics of Memory in Ukrainian-Polish Relations: Poland's Hyper-Activeness and Ukraine's Reactiveness'. *The Politics of Memory in Poland and Ukraine*, September, 36–52. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003017349-4.
- Hann, Christopher M., and Paul R. Magocsi. 2005. *Galicia: A Multicultured Land*. University of Toronto Press. https://utorontopress.com/9780802037817/galicia/.
- He, Yinan. 2009. The Search for Reconciliation: Sino-Japanese and German-Polish Relations since World War II. The Search for Reconciliation: Sino-Japanese and German-Polish Relations since World War II. Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511770463.
- Himka, John-Paul. 1992. 'Western Ukraine between the Wars'. *Canadian Slavonic Papers* 34 (4): 391–412. https://doi.org/10.1080/00085006.1992.11092000.
- Hryniuk, Stella. 1993. 'Polish Lords and Ukrainian Peasants: Conflict, Deference, and Accommodation in Eastern Galicia in the Late Nineteenth Century'. In *Austrian History Yearbook*, 24:119–32. Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0067237800005282.
- Hrytsak, Yaroslav. 2004. 'A Difficult Reconciliation [Тяжке Примирення]'. In *Passion for Nationalism. An Old Story in a New Way [Страсті За Націоналізмом. Стара Історія На Новий Лад*], 126–37.
- Ignatieff, Michael. 1996. 'Articles of Faith'. *Index on Censorship* 25 (5): 110–22. https://doi.org/10.1177/030642209602500522.
- Iliushyn, Ihor. 2009. Ukrainian Insurgent Army and Home Army: Confrontation in Western Ukraine (1939-1945) [Українська Повстанська Армія і Армія Крайова: Протистояння в Західній Україні (1939-1945 Рр.)]. Kiev: Mohyla Academy Publishing House. https://chtyvo.org.ua/authors/Iliushyn_Ihor/_Ukrainska_Povstanska_Armiia_i_Armiia_ Kraiova_Protystoiannia_v_Zakhidnii_Ukraini_1939-1945/.
- Ilnytskyj, Vasyli. 2018. 'The Polish-Ukrainian Conflict in the Carpathian Area of OUN (1943-1945) [Польсько-Український Конфлікт у Карпатському Краї ОУН (1943-1945)]'. *Sumy Historical and Archival Journal*, no. XXX, 41–48. https://doi.org/10.21272/SHAJ.2018.I30.P41.
- Jędraszczyk, Katarzyna. 2018. 'Historical Problems and Politics of Memory in Polish-Ukrainian Relations (1991-2017) [Історичні Проблеми Та Політика Пам'яті в Польсько-Українських Стосунках (1991 – 2017)]'. Scientific Papers, no. 95–96, 237–

- 53. https://repozytorium.amu.edu.pl/server/api/core/bitstreams/682bbe70-d955-485b-9ad8-cb45437dc9e1/content.
- Joint Statement of the Presidents of Ukraine and the Republic of Poland ... 1997. Joint Statement of the Presidents of Ukraine and the Republic of Poland 'Towards Understanding and Unity' [Совместное Заявление Президентов Украины и Республики Польша 'К Пониманию и Единению']. https://studbooks.net/8190/politologiya/sovmestnogo_zayavleniya_prezidentov_ukrainy _respubliki_polsha_ponimaniyu_edineniyu.
- Kasianov, Georgiy. 2006. 'The Burden of the Past: The Ukrainian–Polish Conflict of 1943/44 in Contemporary Public, Academic and Political Debates in Ukraine and Poland'. *Innovation: The European Journal of Social Science Research* 19 (3–4): 247–59. https://doi.org/10.1080/13511610601029805.
- ——. 2022. Memory Crash: Politics of History in and around Ukraine, 1980s–2010s. Memory Crash: Politics of History In and Around Ukraine, 1980s-2010s. Central European University Press. https://doi.org/10.7829/9789633863817.
- KIIS. 1997. 'Attitude to NATO and Political Orientations [Отношение к НАТО и Политические Ориентации]'. Kiev International Institute of Sociology. 1997. https://ukraine.survey-archive.com/data#user-research@showResearch=67862.
- Kolomyichuk, Oleksandr. 2023. "I Had No Childhood": A Trauma History of Deported Ukrainians from Western Boykivshchyna". *Journal of Ethnology and Folkloristics* 17 (2): 25–43. https://doi.org/10.2478/JEF-2023-0016.
- Koposov, Nikolay. 2021. 'Populism and Memory: Legislation of the Past in Poland, Ukraine, and Russia'. *East European Politics, Societies and Cultures* 36 (1): 272–97. https://doi.org/10.1177/0888325420950806.
- Korab-Karpowicz, W. Julian. 2023. 'Where Are You Going, Ukraine?: Poland's View of the Russia-Ukraine Conflict'. *Journal of Interdisciplinary Studies* 35 (1/2): 61–80. https://doi.org/10.5840/JIS2023351/23.
- Korrespondent UA. 2003. 'Kuchma: Where the Dead Rest, Two Crosses Should Stand Side by Side a Polish One and a Ukrainian One [Кучма: Там, Де Спочивають Загиблі, Повинні Стояти Поруч Два Хрести Поляку й Українцю]'. *Korrespondent.Net*, 2003. https://ua.korrespondent.net/ukraine/244863-kuchma-tam-de-spochivayut-zagibli-povinni-stoyati-poruch-dva-hresti-polyaku-j-ukrayincyu.
- Kozlova, Daria. 2023. 'Museums' Representation of World War II in Ukraine 1991–2019 against the Background of Memory Politics: Competing Narratives and Reconciliation Measures'. In *War and Remembrance*, 243–67. Brill Schöningh. https://brill.com/display/book/9783657790920/BP000018.xml.
- Kupchan, Charles A. 2010. *How Enemies Become Friends: The Sources of Stable Peace. How Enemies Become Friends.* Princeton University Press. https://doi.org/10.1515/9781400834419.

- Lehmann, Rosamond. 2009. 'Struggling for Peace: Understanding Polish-Ukrainian Coexistence in Southeast Poland (1943-2007)'. https://pure.uva.nl/ws/files/1036755/64894_03.pdf.
- Liebich, André, Oksana Myshlovska, Viktoriia Sereda, Oleksandra Gaidai, and Iryna Sklokina. 2019. 'The Ukrainian Past and Present: Legacies, Memory and Attitudes'. In *Regionalism without Regions: Reconceptualizing Ukraine's Heterogeneity*, 67–134. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1515/9789633863114-007.
- Lind, Jennifer. 2008. *Sorry States: Apologies in International Politics. Sorry States*. Cornell University Press. https://doi.org/10.7591/9780801462283/HTML.
- Long, William J., and Peter Brecke. 2003. *War and Reconciliation: Reason and Emotion in Conflict Resolution. War and Reconciliation.* The MIT Press. https://doi.org/10.7551/MITPRESS/7154.001.0001.
- Lowenthal, David. 2009. 'On Arraigning Ancestors: A Critique of Historical Contrition'. *North Carolina Law Review* 87 (3): 901–66. https://scholarship.law.unc.edu/nclr/vol87/iss3/8.
- Lupion, Miranda. 2017. 'National Memory and Divisive Narrative Building in Poland's 2010 Presidential Election'. *Polish Political Science Review* 5 (1): 5–21. https://doi.org/10.1515/PPSR-2015-0039.
- Lynn, Hyung Gu. 2021. 'Japan-South Korea International Relations'. In *Routledge Handbook of Contemporary South Korea*, 292–311. Taylor and Francis. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003026150-18/JAPAN.
- Magocsi, Paul R. 2002. *The Roots of Ukrainian Nationalism: Galicia as Ukraine's Piedmont*. University of Toronto Press.
- Marples, David R. 2006. 'Stepan Bandera: The Resurrection of a Ukrainian National Hero'. *Europe-Asia Studies* 58 (4): 555–66. https://doi.org/10.1080/09668130600652118.
- Military Review. 2017. 'The Head of the OUN Threatens to Bill the Poles for the Genocide of Ukrainians'. *Military Review*, 2017. https://en.topwar.ru/120203-glava-oun-grozitsya-vystavit-polyakam-schet-za-genocid-ukraincev.html.
- Mochizuki, Mike M. 2010. 'The Yasukuni Shrine Conundrum: Japan's Contested Identity and Memory'. In *Northeast Asia's Difficult Past: Essays in Collective Memory*, 31–52. Palgrave Macmillan, London. https://doi.org/10.1057/9780230277427_2.
- Moskwa, Dagmara. 2021. 'Opponents in Battle, Allies in Suffering: A Dualistic Picture of Poland and Poles in Ukrainian History Textbooks'. In *The Politics of Memory in Poland and Ukraine*, 150–65. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003017349-12.
- Motyka, Grzegorz. 2011. From the Volyn Massacre to the Vistula Operation. The Polish-Ukrainian Conflict of 1943-1947 [Od Rzezi Wołyńskiej Do Akcji Wisła. Konflikt Polsko-Ukraiński 1943-1947]. Książka w Empik. https://www.empik.com/od-rzezi-wolynskiej-do-akcji-wisla-konflikt-polsko-ukrainski-1943-1947-motyka-grzegorz,prod60176865,ksiazka-p.

- Nasalska, Ewa. 2000. 'German-Polish Relations in the Historical Consciousness of Polish Youths'. *Intercultural Education* 11 (1): 53–64. https://doi.org/10.1080/14675980050005398.
- Nemenskii, Oleg. 2016. "Volyn Massacre" and Polish-Ukrainian Contradictions in Politics of History ["Волынская Резня" и Польско-Украинские Противоречия в Исторической Политике]". *Questions of Nationalism [Вопросы Национализма]* 26 (2): 11–24. https://cyberleninka.ru/article/n/volynskaya-reznya-i-polsko-ukrainskie-protivorechiya-v-istoricheskoy-politike.
- Osikowicz, Żanna. 2020. 'Socio-Cultural Aspects of Relations between Poland and Ukraine 1991-2013 [Społeczno-Kulturalne Aspekty Stosunków Poski i Ukrainy w Latach 1991-2013]'. Kraków: Pedagogical University of Krakow. https://rep.up.krakow.pl/xmlui/bitstream/handle/11716/10799/ZOsikowicz-praca_doktorska.pdf?sequence=1.
- Osipian, Ararat L., and Alexandr L. Osipian. 2012. 'Regional Diversity and Divided Memories in Ukraine: Contested Past as Electoral Resource, 2004-2010'. *East European Politics and Societies* 26 (3): 616–42. https://doi.org/10.1177/0888325412447642/ASSET/IMAGES/LARGE/10.1177_0888325412447642-FIG1.JPEG.
- Palko, Olena, and Samuel Foster. 2021. 'Contested Minorities in the "New Europe": National Identities in Interwar Eastern and Southeastern Europe'. *National Identities* 23 (4): 303–23. https://doi.org/10.1080/14608944.2020.1749837.
- Park, Cheol-Hee. 2020. 'South Korean Views of Japan: A Polarizing Split in Coverage'. *Joint U.S.-Korea Academic Studies* 2 (4): 171–85. https://www.keia.org/sites/default/files/publications/kei_jointus-korea_2020_2.4.pdf.
- Patryliak, Ivan. 2004. *OUN(B)'s Military Activity in 1940–1942 [Військова Діяльність ОУН(Б) у 1940–1942 Роках]*. Kiev: Instytut Istorii NAN Ukrainy . https://chtyvo.org.ua/authors/Patryliak_Ivan/Viiskova_diialnist_OUN_B_u_1940_1942_rokakh/.
- Pavliuk, Oleksandr. 1998. 'Ukrainian-Polish Relations in Galicia in 1918-1919'. *Journal of Ukrainian Studies* 23 (1): 1–23. https://www.proquest.com/openview/942ad8be7f2d2ca5c71750c2a612400b/1?pq-origsite=gscholar&cbl=37692.
- Persak, Krzysztof. 2018. 'Operation Vistula: An Attempt at Legal Qualification [Akcja "Wisła" Próba Kwalifikacji Prawnej]'. *Studia Polityczne* 46 (1): 23–54. https://www.academia.edu/37847352/Akcja_Wis%C5%82a_pr%C3%B3ba_kwalifikacji _prawnej_Operation_Vistula_An_attempt_at_legal_qualification_Studia_Polityczne_20 18_vol_46_no_1_pp_23_54.
- Pingel, Falk. 2008. 'Can Truth Be Negotiated? History Textbook Revision as a Means to Reconciliation'. *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science* 617 (1): 181–98. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002716207313087.

- Polonsky, Antony. 1998. 'The Revolutionary Crisis of 1846-1849 and Its Place in the Development of Nineteenth-Century Galicia'. *Harvard Ukrainian Studies* 22:443–69. https://www.jstor.org/stable/41036752.
- Portnov, Andrii. 2021. 'Polish-Ukrainian Historical Controversies: An Overview'. *The Politics of Memory in Poland and Ukraine*, September, 21–35. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003017349-3.
- . 2023. 'Polish-Ukrainian Reconciliation: Before and after 1989 [Pojednanie Polsko-Ukraińskie: Przed i Po Roku 1989]'. In *Polska i Ukraina: Wspólna Historia, Asymetryczna Pamięć*, 65–77. Centre for Historical Research in Berlin. Polish Academy of Sciences. https://publikacje.pan.pl/Content/129406/PDF/Pojednanie%20polsko-ukraińskie%20przed%20i%20po%20roku%201989.pdf.
- Ptashnyk, Stefaniya. 2011. 'Societal Multilingualism and Language Conflicts in Galicia in the 19th Century'. In *Germanic Language Histories 'from Below'* (1700-2000), 437–48. DE GRUYTER. https://doi.org/10.1515/9783110925463.437/HTML.
- Radio Svoboda. 2003. 'The Presidents of Ukraine Leonid Kuchma and Poland Oleksandr Kwasniewski Opened the Monument of Ukrainian-Polish Reconciliation "Memory Sorrow Unity" in the Village of Pavlivtsi, Which 60 Years Ago Was the Site of Tragic Events in Volyn [Президенти України Леонід Кучма і Польщі Олександр Квасневський Відкрили Пам'ятник Українсько-Польського Примирення "Пам'ять Скорбота Єднання" в Селі Павлівці, Яке 60 Років Тому Було Місцем Трагічних Подій На Волині]'. *Radio Svoboda*, 2003. https://www.radiosvoboda.org/a/905399.html.
- ——. 2016. 'Volyn: The Asymmetry of Memory [Волынь: Асимметрия Памяти]'. *Radio Svoboda*, 2016. https://www.svoboda.org/a/28126701.html.
- Rapawy, Stephen. 2016. *The Culmination of Conflict: The Ukrainian-Polish Civil War and the Expulsion of Ukrainians After the Second World War*. Columbia University Press. https://cup.columbia.edu/book/the-culmination-of-conflict/9783838208954.
- RBC-Ukraine. 1997. 'Kuchma and Kwasniewski Urged the Public of Ukraine and Poland Not to Look for Reasons to Worsen Relations between the Two Nations [Кучма и Квасневский Призвали Общественность Украины и Польши Не Искать Поводов Для Ухудшения Отношений Между Двумя Народами]'. *RBC-Ukraine*, 1997. https://www.rbc.ua/rus/news/kuchma-i-kvasnevskiy-prizvali-obshchestvennost-ukrainy-i-08072013134100.
- Riabushkina, Sofiia. 2017. 'Ukrainian National Identity on the Territory of Western Ukraine under Polish Rule in the Interwar Period (1918-1939)'. https://dspace.cuni.cz/handle/20.500.11956/86104.
- Ricœur, Paul. 2000. *La Mémoire, l'histoire, l'oubli [Memory, History, Forgetting]*. *L'ordre Philosophique*. Threshold. https://books.google.com/books/about/La_m%C3%A9moire_l_histoire_l_oubli.html?hl =ru&id=4LdmQgAACAAJ.
- Rigney, Ann. 2012. 'Reconciliation and Remembering: (How) Does It Work?' *Memory Studies* 5 (3): 251–58. https://doi.org/10.1177/1750698012440927.

- Rossoliński-Liebe, Grzegorz. 2023. 'The Genocidal Violence of the Organization of Ukrainian Nationalists and the Ukrainian Insurgent Army'. In *Genocidal Violence: Concepts, Forms, Impact*, 191–211. De Gruyter. https://doi.org/10.1515/9783110781328-009/MACHINEREADABLECITATION/RIS.
- RuBaltic. 2024. 'They Came out to Greet with Flowers and Then It Began: How the Polish "Armia Krajowa" Slaughtered Ukrainians [Вышли Встречать Цветами и Тут Началось: Как Польская «Армия Крайова» Кромсала Украинцев]'. *RuBaltic*, 2024. https://www.rubaltic.ru/context/22022024_vyshli-vstrechat-tsvetami-i-tut-nachalos-kak-polskaya-armiya-krayova-kromsala-ukraintsev/.
- Rysicz-Szafraniec, Julia. 2021. 'Ukrainian "Working through the Past' in the Context of the Polish–Ukrainian Dialogue on Volhynia-43. Asymmetry of Memory'. *European Review* 29 (4): 497–509. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1062798720000538.
- Shaw, Rosalind. 2007. 'Memory Frictions: Localizing the Truth and Reconciliation Commission in Sierra Leone'. *International Journal of Transitional Justice* 1 (2): 183–207. https://doi.org/10.1093/IJTJ/IJM008.
- Short, Damien. 2005. 'Reconciliation and the Problem of Internal Colonialism'. *Journal of Intercultural Studies* 26 (3): 267–82. https://doi.org/10.1080/07256860500153534.
- ——. 2012. 'When Sorry Isn't Good Enough: Official Remembrance and Reconciliation in Australia'. *Memory Studies* 5 (3): 293–304. https://doi.org/10.1177/1750698012443886.
- Siemaszko, Władysław, and Ewa Siemaszko. 2008. *Genocide Committed by Ukrainian Nationalists on the Polish Population of Volyn, 1949-1945 [Ludobójstwo Dokonane Przez Nacjonalistow Ukraińskich Na Ludności Polskiej Wołynia, 1939-1945]*. Wydawn. von borowiecky. https://lubimyczytac.pl/ksiazka/5809/ludobojstwo-dokonane-przeznacjonalistow-ukrainskich-na-ludności-polskiej-wolynia-t-1-i-2.
- Simoncini, Gabriele. 1994. 'The Polyethnic State: National Minorities in Interbellum Poland'. *Nationalities Papers* 22 (S1): 5–28. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0090599200022121.
- Snyder, Timothy. 2003. 'The Causes of Ukrainian–Polish Ethnic Cleansing 1943'. *Past & Present* 179 (1): 197–234. https://doi.org/10.1093/PAST/179.1.197.
- Socis Omnibus. 1999. 'What General Assessment Would You Give: Poland [Яку Загальну Оцінку Ви Могли б Дати: Польща]'. Socis Omnibus Poll. 1999. https://ukraine.survey-archive.com/data#user-research@showVar=50977.
- Soroka, George. 2022. 'Recalling Katyń: Poland, Russia, and the Interstate Politics of History'. *East European Politics and Societies* 36 (1): 328–55.
- Soroka, George, and Félix Krawatzek. 2019. 'Nationalism, Democracy, and Memory Laws'. *Journal of Democracy* 30 (2): 157–71. https://doi.org/10.1353/JOD.2019.0032.
- Stryjek, Tomasz, and Joanna Konieczna-Sałamatin. 2021. 'Introduction: How Historical Cultures Change and How We Can Study This'. In *The Politics of Memory in Poland and Ukraine*, 1–17. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003017349-1.

- Studenna-Skrukwa, Marta. 2021. 'What History? What Homeland? The Nationalization of History in the School Education before the Breakthroughs in 2014–15 and After'. In *The Politics of Memory in Poland and Ukraine*, 85–103. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003017349-8.
- Szpak, Agnieszka, and Dawid Bunikowski. 2022. 'Saami Truth and Reconciliation Commissions'. *The International Journal of Human Rights* 26 (2): 306–31. https://doi.org/10.1080/13642987.2021.1926237.
- Tajfel, Henri. 1982. 'Social Psychology of Intergroup Relations'. *Annual Review of Psychology* 33 (1): 1–39. https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV.PS.33.020182.000245).
- Takekawa, Shunichi. 2015. 'Reconciliation Prospects and Divided War Memories in Japan: An Analysis of Major Newspapers on the Comfort Women Issue'. *Routledge Handbook of Memory and Reconciliation in East Asia*, October, 79–94. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203740323-9.
- Tang, Shiping. 2011. 'Reconciliation and the Remaking of Anarchy'. World Politics 63 (4): 711–49. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0043887111000219.
- Taraniuk, Irena. 2013. 'Volyn-43 as a Black Page in the History of Both Poland and Ukraine [Волынь-43 Как Черная Страница Истории и Польши, и Украины]'. *BBC Ukraine*, 2013. https://www.bbc.com/ukrainian/ukraine_in_russian/2013/07/130713_ru_s_volyn_history.
- Terry, Sarah Meiklejohn. 2000. 'Poland's Foreign Policy since 1989: The Challenges of Independence'. *Communist and Post-Communist Studies* 33 (1): 7–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0967-067X(99)00024-0.
- Treaty between the Republic of Poland and Ukraine ... 1992. Treaty between the Republic of Poland and Ukraine on Good Neighbourliness, Friendly Relations and Cooperation. Warsaw, 18 May 1992. https://treaties.un.org/doc/Publication/UNTS/No%20Volume/56629/Part/I-56629-080000028048b98c.pdf.
- Ukrainska Pravda. 2006. 'Yushchenko Settled the Historical Conflict [Ющенко Уладил Исторический Конфликт]'. Ukrainska Pravda. 2006. https://www.pravda.com.ua/rus/news/2006/05/13/4399580/.
- Ukrinform. 2017. 'In Warsaw, the Anniversary of the Events in Volyn Was Celebrated with Anti-Bander Slogans [У Варшаві з Антибандерівськими Гаслами Відзначили Роковини Подій На Волині]'. *Ukrinform*, 2017. https://www.polukr.net/uk/blog/2017/07/u-varshavi-z-antibanderivskimi-gaslami-vidznachili-rokovini-podij-na-volini/.
- UNIAN. 2017. 'Ukraine Suspends Validation of Poland's Memorials in Return of UPA Monument Demolition'. *UNIAN*, 2017. https://www.unian.info/politics/1899039-ukraine-suspends-validation-of-polands-memorials-in-return-of-upa-monument-demolition.html.

- Verbytska, Polina, and Roman Kuzmyn. 2019. 'Between Amnesia and the «war of Memories»: Politics of Memory in the Museum Narratives of Ukraine.' *Museology & Cultural Heritage* [Muzeologia a Kulturne Dedicstvo] 7 (2): 23–34. https://openurl.ebsco.com/contentitem/edb:139638419?sid=ebsco:plink:crawler&id=ebsco:edb:139638419&crl=c.
- Wojnar, Marek. 2021. 'Contemporary Social Actors of Memory, Vis-a-Vis the 1939–47 Polish-Ukrainian Conflict: Typology and Interactions'. In *The Politics of Memory in Poland and Ukraine*, 67–81. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003017349-6.
- WP Wiadomości. 2013. 'Donald Tusk on the Resolution on the Volyn Massacre: It Is Devastating for the Perpetrators [Donald Tusk o Uchwale w Sprawie Rzezi Wołyńskiej: Jest Miażdżąca Dla Sprawców]'. WP Wiadomości, 2013. https://wiadomosci.wp.pl/donald-tusk-o-uchwale-w-sprawie-rzezi-wolynskiej-jest-miazdzaca-dla-sprawcow-6031563694183553a.
- wPolityce. 2014. "Polishness Is Abnormality", i.e. the Final Touches of Tusk's Educational Strategy, Liberating Poles from the "Theater of Unfulfilled Dreams" ["Polskość to Nienormalność", Czyli Ostatnie Szlify Edukacyjnej Strategii Tuska, Wyzwalające Polaków z "Teatru Niespełnionych Marzeń"]'. WPolityce.Pl, 2014. https://wpolityce.pl/polityka/129646-polskosc-to-nienormalnosc-czyli-ostatnie-szlifyedukacyjnej-strategii-tuska-wyzwalające-polakow-z-teatru-niespelnionych-marzen.
- Wu, Chengqiu, and Fan Yang. 2016. 'Reconciliation and Peace Building in International Relations: An Empirical Analysis of Five Cases'. *Chinese Political Science Review* 1 (4): 645–69. https://doi.org/10.1007/S41111-016-0046-7/TABLES/2.
- Yeong, Loke Hoe. 2013. '50 Years of the "Twin Engine": Franco-German Reconciliation, European Integration and Reflections for Asia'. Singapore. http://www.eucentre.sg/wp-content/uploads/2013/06/BB08-50yearstwinengine.pdf.
- Zhurzhenko, Tatiana. 2013. 'Memory Wars and Reconciliation in the Ukrainian–Polish Borderlands: Geopolitics of Memory from a Local Perspective'. In *History, Memory and Politics in Central and Eastern Europe*, 173–92. Palgrave Macmillan, London. https://doi.org/10.1057/9781137302052_11.
- Zięba, Ryszard. 2002. 'The "Strategic Partnership" between Poland and Ukraine'. *The Polish Foreign Affairs Digest* 2 (3–4): 195–226. https://www.academia.edu/22231294/The_Strategic_Partnership_between_Poland_and_Ukraine.
- ——. 2023. 'Illiberalism and Nationalism in Poland's Politics'. In *Politics and Security of Central and Eastern Europe*, 83–117. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-16419-4_5.